Filed 04-12-2021

Page 1 of 34

FILED 04-12-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS

# DISTRICT III

Case No. 2021AP9-CR

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

JONATHAN LIEBZEIT,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL OF AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION FOR SENTENCE MODIFICATION ENTERED IN THE OUTAGAMIE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN A. DES JARDINS, PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Twenty-four years after imposing a life-without-parole sentence on then-19-year-old Jonathan Liebzeit for the brutal, unprovoked "thrill-killing" of a childhood friend, the circuit court reflected on Liebzeit's sentence after a sentencing hearing for an 18-year-old offender reminded the court of Liebzeit's case. The court contacted Liebzeit's defense counsel and informed him that the court had attended a conference presenting information about ongoing development of the human brain during the ages of 18 to 22, and that it would entertain a motion for modification of Liebzeit's sentence based on that research if one were filed. The defense filed the motion and the court granted it over the State's objection, making Liebzeit eligible for parole on January 1, 2023.

Did the circuit court err in concluding that Liebzeit showed a new factor warranting sentence modification by providing the court with research on brain development in young adults and evidence that he damaged his brain by huffing inhalants at age 13?

This Court should reverse the circuit court. The record shows that this sentence modification was not based on a new factor; it was based on the court's reflection on the harshness of a life-without-parole sentence for a 19 year old. Liebzeit was an adult when he committed the crime which was particularly heinous in nature, and nothing about ongoing human brain maturation nor Liebzeit's huffing inhalants six years before the crime occurred is new, nor was it highly relevant to the imposition of Liebzeit's sentence in 1997.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument. The State does request publication, however, to dispel any further question about whether *Graham v. Florida* and *Miller v. Alabama* overruled Wisconsin case law holding that research into the ongoing development of the human brain is not a new factor warranting sentence modification.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

#### The Crime

Around midnight on October 27, 1996, 19-year-old Alex Schaefer received a call from his best friend he'd known since childhood, Jonathan Liebzeit. (R. 181:60–66.) Alex had just returned to Kaukauna from spending the summer in Texas with his sister. (R. 181:65; 108:103.)

Unbeknownst to Alex, Liebzeit was mad at him—for stealing a picture of Liebzeit's girlfriend in the eighth grade, stealing a hair tie from Liebzeit's former girlfriend a year previously, and for not repaying \$15 Alex owed to a mutual friend, Daniel Mischler, who said he had forgiven the debt. (R. 182:71–73.) For these infractions, Liebzeit decided to kill Alex. (R. 182:76.) Liebzeit lured Alex to Liebzeit's father's house with an invitation to drink beer and smoke marijuana, but with the plan for Liebzeit and another friend, James Thompson, to take him to a park and beat him to death with a baseball bat. (R. 182:77–78; 183:76–80.) Mischler tried to talk the two out of this plan, but he failed. (R. 182:80–81.) Liebzeit got very excited when Alex agreed to come over. (R. 182:77; 183:81.)

Alex arrived and had a couple of beers with Liebzeit, Mischler, and Thompson. (R. 182:79.) Liebzeit then told Alex they were all going to go into the park to smoke some marijuana. (R. 182:83.) Liebzeit and Thompson secretly took a baseball bat wrapped in electrical tape along as the four left the house. (R. 182:83, 118.) Thompson led the group into some large sewer tunnels under a baseball diamond. (R. 182:84.) Suddenly, Liebzeit struck Alex with the baseball bat. (R. 182:86.) Alex cried out, "Jon, what are you doing?" (R. 182:86.) Liebzeit continued to beat Alex with the bat around his head and upper body. (R. 182:88.) Alex asked Liebzeit why he was beating him and saying "I'm sorry!" but Liebzeit kept beating him. (R. 182:88.) Alex finally offered "I got money," and pleaded with Liebzeit to stop, but the beating continued. (R. 182:88–89.) Alex escaped briefly and ran, but Mischler grabbed his shirt and Liebzeit and Thompson caught him. (R. 182:89–90.) Alex continued to plead with them to let him go. (R. 182:90–91.) Liebzeit swore at him and began beating him with the bat again. (R. 182:90–91.) He took a particularly vicious swing that connected with the back of Alex's head with a loud crack. (R. 182:92.)

Alex stumbled into the water in the tunnel and Thompson followed him. (R. 182:93–94.) Liebzeit told Mischler to go into the water and help Thompson. (R. 182:94.) Thompson and Mischler held Alex under the water until he stopped moving. (R. 182:97.) Liebzeit told Thompson to check Alex's pulse to make sure he was dead. (R. 182:98.) Alex had no pulse. (R. 182:98.)

They dragged Alex's body out of the water and further into the tunnel. (R. 182:99–100.) Thompson stole Alex's wallet and he, Mischler, and Liebzeit left the park. (R. 182:100–02.) Thompson and Liebzeit returned to Liebzeit's father's house where they changed clothes and laughed about the killing. (R. 2:2–3; 182:129; 183:89.) They joked about Alex having offered them money when they found only three dollars in the stolen wallet. (R. 183:90.) The next day, Thompson and Liebzeit said they did not feel any remorse about the murder and continued to joke about the murder being "funny." (R. 182:104, 129.) They made plans to go back to hide the body and hinder any identification of who it was. (R. 182:107–09.) They also gave Mischler some of Alex's clothing to dispose of and stripped the electrical tape from the bat. (R. 182:109–19.) Mischler told the two he was disposing of the items but instead hid them in a barn at his house. (R. 182:114.)

By Tuesday, police had located Alex's body after someone who had been at Liebzeit's house that night tipped them off about the death. (R. 2:1–2; 183:100.) They arrested Mischler, who told them everything that happened that night and led them to Alex's belongings. (R. 182:115–29.)

### The Trial

The State charged Liebzeit with one count of firstdegree intentional homicide by use of a dangerous weapon and as a party to a crime, and one count of concealing a corpse as a party to a crime.<sup>1</sup> (R. 2:1.) At trial, Mischler related the above events and said it didn't make any sense why Liebzeit and Thompson wanted to hurt Alex, and that Mischler only went with them because he was scared they would do the same to him. (R. 182:92.) The witness who called police related Thompson's and Liebzeit's excited demeanor and activities before and after the murder, and recalled the two laughing about it. (R. 183:68-129.) The officer who interviewed Liebzeit also recalled Liebzeit telling him that he couldn't forgive Alex for stealing a picture of his girlfriend in the eighth grade and stealing the hair tie. (R. 195:17.) Liebzeit told the officer Mischler was not part of the discussion about killing Alex and did not want to go along. (R. 195:18, 35.) Liebzeit also admitted to the officer that he had beaten Alex with the baseball bat with no provocation but claimed killing him was accidental. (R. 195:21–30.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> James Thompson and Edgar Liebzeit, Jonathan's father, were also charged with and convicted of crimes related to Alex's death. *See* Outagamie County Case Nos. 1996CF575, 1996CF602. Mischler was offered use immunity in exchange for his trial testimony. (R. 182:51.) He pled guilty to one count of second-degree intentional homicide in Outagamie County Case No. 1996CF574.

Liebzeit testified that the beating was planned and set into motion by Mischler and Thompson, that he had no knowledge of a plan for beating or killing Alex, and that he did not willingly participate in the beating. (R. 195:115–41; 186:14–118.) He claimed that Thompson pressed the bat on him and pressured him to hit Alex, and that the strike to Alex's head with the bat was an accident. (R. 195:139–41; 186:15–19.) The jury rejected Liebzeit's testimony and found him guilty of both charges.

### Sentencing

The court said it carefully reviewed all of the submissions, arguments of counsel, and the testimony and statements made in court. (R. 190:50-51.) It stated that it "appears to the Court that Jonathan is an individual who has maximum needs." (R. 190:51.) His behavior pattern showed antisocial behavior escalating into ever more serious offenses over time. (R. 190:52.) Liebzeit had rejected all efforts at intervention for him and that he had "set his course and his path and is responsible as an adult individual needs to be held responsible." (R. 190:53.) The court recognized that Liebzeit's social worker indicated that Liebzeit tended to shirk blame for his behavior and in this particular case tried to cast the blame on Mischler. (R. 190:54.) The court noted the extreme brutality of the crime and that Liebzeit had conned, trapped, and betrayed a friend he had had since childhood and did so over something as trivial as a hair tie. (R. 190:55–61.) The court observed that "to betray a friend is a repulsive thing," noted that Liebzeit had an enormous amount of police contact since he was a juvenile—over 40 contacts—and that the behavior became increasingly violent as Liebzeit got older. (R. 56:5-7; 190:51-57

The court also noted that Liebzeit had time to withdraw from this plan and to warn his friend, but never did. (R. 190:57.) Instead, as Alex pleaded for his life, his cries "fell on very cold, uncaring, vicious ears that had no use for a friend." (R. 190:57.) The court determined that there was no amount of punishment that could truly meet the gravity of this offense and accordingly, the court sentenced Liebzeit to life without the possibility of parole. (R. 190:61–62.)

## The Circuit Court's Request for a Motion for Sentence Modification

Twenty-four years after imposing Liebzeit's sentence, the circuit court, sua sponte, sent a letter to Liebzeit's new attorney. (R. 138.) It informed counsel that,

This Court recently conducted a sentencing hearing involving an 18-year-old who committed several acts of destroying property. In preparing for that sentencing, the Court recalled that it had attended a seminar during November of 2019. The seminar dealt with the human brain. One of the presentations made at the seminar included a presentation about the adolescent brain. That presentation included a paper that detailed how the brain develops for many years beyond age 18, including the pre-frontal cortex of the brain. The presenter was Prof. Leah Somerville, PhD. In reviewing Dr. Somerville's paper, the Court recalled the *Liebzeit* case.

(R. 138:1.) The court recognized that it had previously denied a request to resentence Liebzeit two years earlier (*see* R. 124), but it said it "believes the material presented by Dr. Somerville, if known by the court at the time of the sentencing, may constitute a new factor. The Court is open to argument on that issue." (R. 138:1.) The court therefore decided that "in the interest of justice, the Court will hold a hearing on the issue of a new factor involving 18-21 year olds' brain development as it impacts the *Liebzeit* case. Legal counsel is encouraged to make additional submissions regarding brain development studies as it relates to this case prior to the hearing." (R. 138:2.) It told counsel that the court would contact them to set a scheduling conference. (R. 138:2.)

The State objected, arguing that this sua sponte action by the court deprived the State of a fair tribunal and pointing

Filed 04-12-2021

out that this Court had already held that research about the brain maturing through ages 18 to 21 was not a new factor as a matter of law in *State v. McDermott*, 2012 WI App 14, 339 Wis. 2d 316, 810 N.W.2d 237. (R. 139:1.)

The circuit court then provided the parties with Dr. Somerville's article titled "Searching for Signatures of Brain Maturity: What are we Searching for?" (R. 141:1.) It informed the parties that was the article it was referring to in its letter. (R. 141:1.) Liebzeit filed the motion based on Dr. Somerville's paper as the court had requested. (R. 143.)

The court held a hearing to address the State's repeated objections to the underlying motion and sua sponte hearing. (R. 192.) It acknowledged that *McDermott* and several other cases held that this research was not a new factor as a matter of law, but it determined that those cases could not be read "with the same force" after *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012). (R. 192:30.) It further determined that Liebzeit's having huffed inhalants at age 13 probably caused him brain damage and that could have affected his decision making. (R. 192:31–32.) It found that Liebzeit had "presented enough information to the Court to find that his brain development issues" constituted a new factor. (R. 192:32.)

At a second hearing the court reflected on the reasons it had imposed the initial sentence and stated that it now thought "[t]he Court's belief of the defendant's long-term dangerousness to society was likely misguided" and it had "based that determination primarily on the nature of the homicide." (R. 193:36–37.) But, given cases such as *Miller* and *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), and their discussions about adolescents' greater prospects for rehabilitation, it no longer believed Liebzeit could not be rehabilitated. (R. 193:36–37.) The court made Liebzeit eligible for parole in 2023. (R. 193:37–38.)

The State appeals.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Whether the defendant has shown a new factor exists is a question of law reviewed by this Court de novo. *State v. Samsa*, 2015 WI App 6, ¶ 14, 359 Wis. 2d 580, 859 N.W.2d 149. Whether a new factor warrants sentence modification is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *McDermott*, 339 Wis. 2d 316, ¶ 9.

#### ARGUMENT

Research into human brain development and Liebzeit's early substance abuse are not new factors warranting sentence modification; the circuit court's modification of Liebzeit's sentence was impermissibly based on reflection alone.

A. A new factor must be something that was not known to the parties and the circuit court at sentencing and must change something that was highly relevant to the imposition of the original sentence.

"A defendant can seek sentence modification in two ways." *State v. Noll*, 2002 WI App 273, ¶ 9, 258 Wis. 2d 573, 653 N.W.2d 895. First, a defendant may seek modification as a matter of right within the time limits prescribed by Wis. Stat. § 973.19 or Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30. *Noll*, 258 Wis. 2d 573, ¶¶ 9–10 & n.3.

Second, when, as here, the time has long passed for a modification request under section 973.19 and Rule 809.30, the defendant may seek sentence modification by invoking the court's "inherent power." *Noll*, 258 Wis. 2d 573, ¶ 11. But a circuit court may not "reduce a sentence on 'reflection' alone or simply because it thought the matter over and has second thoughts." *Scott v. State*, 64 Wis. 2d 54, 59, 218 N.W.2d 350 (1974) (citation omitted). A circuit court may exercise its power to modify a sentence "only if a defendant demonstrates

the existence of a 'new factor' justifying sentence modification." Noll, 258 Wis. 2d 573,  $\P$  11.

Deciding а defendant's request for sentence modification based on a new factor is a two-step process. State *v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 36, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. First, the defendant must demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that a new factor exists. Harbor, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 36. A new factor is "a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence" that is not known to the sentencing court, "either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." Id.  $\P$  40 (quoting Rosado v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975)). Second, the defendant must show the circuit court that the new factor actually justifies sentence modification. *Id.* ¶¶ 37–38.

- B. Liebzeit did not establish that a new factor exists.
  - 1. This Court has already held that research into human brain development is not a new factor as a matter of law, and the sentencing transcript shows it wasn't highly relevant to the imposition of Liebzeit's sentence.
    - a. Research into human brain development is not a new factor as a matter of law.

This Court in *McDermott* already considered, and rejected, the circuit court's precise holding here that neuroscience research showing that the human brain does not fully mature until a person's early 20s is a new factor. *McDermott*, 339 Wis. 2d 316, ¶¶ 17–22. Just like Liebzeit, McDermott committed a particularly vicious murder when he

was a young adult. *Id.* ¶¶ 3–6, 16. Also like Liebzeit, McDermott did not take responsibility for the murder and admitted that he had made some bad choices but said he was not the killer and did not deserve life in prison. *Id.* ¶ 5. The trial court considered the required sentencing factors and determined that since McDermott had no prior criminal behavior, "there should be some light at the end of the tunnel" for him, but that "was the only mitigating factor" it saw in the case. *Id.* ¶ 6. The court sentenced McDermott to life with the possibility of parole after 35 years. *Id.* ¶¶ 2, 6–7.

Also just like Liebzeit, McDermott filed a motion for sentence modification based on alleged new factors. He claimed that: (1) the circuit court erroneously evaluated his prospects for rehabilitation as proven by his conduct in prison; and (2) "recent research show[ing] that persons around the age of eighteen are not as mature as adults and, therefore, should not be held to the same degree of culpability as adults."  $Id. \P 8.$ 

This Court unequivocally held that neither the defendant's maturation in prison nor research on human brain development in adolescents or 18 to 21-year-olds were new factors as a matter of law. *Id.* ¶¶ 15–22.

This Court acknowledged that recognizing a defendant's changed character after time as a new factor simply because the sentencing court was doubtful about the defendant's prospects for rehabilitation at sentencing "would wholly gut established law in Wisconsin that 'an inmates progress or rehabilitation while incarcerated' is not a 'new factor." *Id.* ¶ 15 (citation omitted).

This Court then rejected the contention that research into human brain development was a new factor, for two dispositive reasons.

First, the Wisconsin Supreme Court already held in *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d

451, that new scientific research into adolescent brain development was not a new factor. *McDermott*, 339 Wis. 2d 316, ¶¶ 18–19. There, the court recognized that while the studies on which Ninham relied themselves may not have been in existence when then-14-year-old Ninham was sentenced to life in prison without parole, "the conclusions reached by the studies were already in existence and well reported by the time Ninham was sentenced in 2000." *Id.* ¶ 18. It further referenced *Thompson v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 815, 835 (1988), where the United States Supreme Court held that the death penalty was unconstitutional for a 15-year-old offender, to show that the impulsivity of young people was recognized as a "long-known reality" at least as far back as 1988. *McDermott*, 339 Wis. 2d 316, ¶ 19 (citation omitted).

Second, this Court recognized that the fact "that adolescents are generally more impulsive than adults has been known since humans were able to observe their environment," quoting Aristotle's observation in *Nicomachen Ethics* from 350 B.C.E. that "[y]oung people are in a condition like permanent intoxication," and Book 23 of Homer's *The Iliad* from roughly 750 B.C.E., stating, "[y]ou know how a young man can do foolish things. His mind works quickly, but his judgment's suspect." *McDermott*, 339 Wis. 2d 316, ¶ 20.

This Court held that the argument that a trial court "did not realize what recent scientific research has confirmed ignores reality, and, in essence, puts the old wine of human experience in the new bottles of recent research and labels the entire package as 'new." *Id.* ¶ 21. "As we have seen, *Ninham* rejected this false labeling," in which the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that such research "only confirms the conclusions about juvenile offenders that the Supreme Court had 'already endorsed' as of 1988." *Id.* ¶ 21 (citation omitted).

b.

The circuit court erroneously refused to follow this binding Wisconsin precedent that this type of research is not a new

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