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

#### Argument

I. THE **SENTENCING COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED** ITS VAST DISCRETION SENTENCING MATTERS WHEN IT REASONED **THAT** NEW **FACTS PERTAINING** TO LIEBZEIT'S **BRAIN** WARRANTED A MODIFICATION TO ALLOW THE DOC DECIDE IF LIEBZEIT SHOULD EVER BE RELEASED FROM PRISON.

#### A. Applicable Legal Standards.

A circuit court always retains inherent authority and discretion to modify a sentence. State v. Noll, 2002 WI App. 258 Wis.2d 573, 653 N.W.2d 895. While that 273, ¶12, discretionary power is exercised within defined parameters, those parameters include the inherent authority to modify a sentence based upon the showing of a new factor. State v. Crochiere, 2004 WI 78, ¶12, 273 Wis.2d 57, 681 N.W.2d 524. A sentencing court's continuing jurisdiction over a sentence finds full expression in the fact there is no time limit for bringing a motion to modify sentence. State v. Machner, 101 Wis.2d 79, 82, 303 N.W.2d 633 (1981). Whether a sentence modification is warranted is left to the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. Trujillo, 2005 WI 45, ¶11, 279 Wis.2d 712, 694 N.W.2d 933.

To warrant a sentence modification, a defendant must show the existence of a new factor, by clear and convincing

Page 16 of 48

evidence, thought to justify the motion to modify sentence. State v. Michels, 150 Wis.2d 94, 97, 441 N.W.2d 278 (Ct. App. 1989). A new factor is a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence, or because it was in existence, but overlooked by all the parties. State v. Harbor, 2011 WI 28, ¶40, 333 Wis.2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828.

Whether facts put forth by a defendant constitute a "new factor" is a question of law. State v. Hegwood, 113 Wis.2d 544, 547, 335 N.W.2d 399 (1983). When a modification is based on new factors, it cannot be said it was based on second thoughts or reflection alone. Harbor, 2011 WI 28, at ¶36. Whether a new factor justifies sentence modification is committed to the discretion of the circuit court, and this Court reviews such decisions for an erroneous exercise of discretion. Id. at ¶33. A proper exercise of discretion requires a trial court to rely on facts of record, the applicable law, and, using a demonstrable rational process, reach a reasonable decision. State v. Manuel, 2005 WI 75, ¶24, 281 Wis.2d 554, 697 N.W.2d 811. The breadth of discretion afforded sentencing courts is such that if they fail to adequately enunciate their reasoning for their decisions, this Court will search the record for reasons to sustain the decision. McCleary v. State, 49 Wis.2d 263, 282, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

The highly deferential review of sentencing court decisions, along with the strong public policy of not interfering with a sentencing court's discretion, have long been embedded in the very fabric of this state's sentencing laws. Decisions affirming this discretion are too numerous for an exhaustive review. See, e.g., Riley v. State, 47 Wis.2d 801, 803, 177 N.W.2d 838 (1970) (in reviewing sentencing decisions there is a presumption the court acted reasonably); McCleary, supra ("the law gives the judge wide discretion in sentencing"); State v. Schilz, 50 Wis.2d 395, 400, 184 N.W.2d 134 (1971) ("strong policy against interference with the trial court's sentencing discretion"); Ocanas v. State, 70 Wis.2d 179, 183, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975) ("review of the sentencing

court's discretion is highly deferential"); *State v. Paske*, 163 Wis.2d 52, 64, 471 N.W.2d 55 (1991) ("weight to be attributed to each factor is within discretion of sentencing judge"); *State v. Harris*, 2010 WI 79, ¶29, 326 Wis.2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409 (in exercising discretion, sentencing courts individualize sentence to defendant based on case facts by identifying the most relevant factors and explaining how sentence imposed furthers sentencing objectives").

# B. The Sentencing Court's Modification Decision Was Based On New Factors And Accordingly, Was *Not* Based On Second Thoughts Or Mere Reflection.

The State frames the court's decision as nothing more than the product of second thoughts about, or mere reflection on, the original sentence imposed. However, because the court based the modification on new factors, it was, by definition, *not* based on second thoughts or reflection alone. *Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, at ¶36. The sentencing court cogently rejected the State's efforts to spin its handling of this case into some kind of misfeasance:

The seminar was sponsored by the Office of Judicial Education for the purpose of educating judges on . . . new research in order to assist them in exercising their duties. To go to a seminar and [then] totally disregard what Judicial Education is telling the judges would seem odd to this Court. The Court did not conduct independent research on this topic . . . I've used the information from that seminar on a number of occasions. . . . The Court raised the issue with the parties . . . . The Court's letter indicated . . . why the Court believed the issue was relevant and why it believed it was able to consider such evidence. The Court did not say it would grant a motion based on that evidence. . . . The Court did not demonstrate actual or apparent bias by doing that. And as I've said,

Filed 06-15-2021

I've listened to your arguments, I've reviewed your briefs.

(R192-25-26).

This effort to misconstrue the sentencing court's decision causes the State to advance contradictory positions. At one point, it argues the court erroneously modified Liebzeit's sentence because it deemed the "original sentence. . . unduly harsh or unconscionable." (State's Brief, p. 20), citing State v. Grindemann, 2002 WI App 106, ¶27, 255 Wis.2d 632, 648 N.W.2d 507. In the next breath, however, the State faults the circuit court for **not** assessing whether its original sentence was unduly harsh or unconscionable. (Id. at 22). Thereafter follows an inexplicable non-sequitur: the circuit court did consider the new factors at the original sentencing hearing and just did not think they mitigated the crime, (id.), despite the court's cogent explanation that it never considered those factors when first sentencing Liebzeit.

The truth is the circuit court addressed this very issue and rationally explained its approach:

Because the data on juvenile brain development was not known at the time of when the Court sentenced Mr. Liebzeit, the Court cannot rely on it to find that its earlier determination that Mr. Liebzeit was not eligible for parole was unduly harsh or unconscionable under the Court's inherent sentencing power. The Court parole modify its eligibility can only determination if the new data on the brain development satisfied the new factor test for sentencing modification, State v. Hegwood. Just because the Court could not modify Mr. Liebzeit's sentence without the showing of a new factor does not mean the Court was unable to raise the issue on its own motion. The Court's action would only support a claim of judicial bias if the Court conducted itself in a

manner that put the Court's impartiality in doubt or raised an apparent appearance of bias.

(R192-21). The State's discussion of whether Liebzeit's sentence was unduly harsh, and how *this* Court would have rejected such an argument, (State's Brief, p. 20), is irrelevant to this appeal. It is a mere distraction.

The lower court also examined, at length, judicial bias, both actual and its appearance. (R192-21-25). The court acted properly at every step. To say it did something improper is tantamount to saying it was untruthful when it explained how the information came to its attention, or the process it thereafter followed.<sup>1</sup>

#### C. Liebzeit's Crime Was Admittedly Heinous, But Such Is Irrelevant To Whether There Are New Factors.

The State relies heavily on the heinous nature of Liebzeit's crime, with liberal references to such throughout the "argument" section of its brief. (State's Brief, pp. 17-19, 21-23). There is no doubt the crime Liebzeit committed was horrible. And yet, the seriousness of the crime is not relevant to the existence, *vel non*, of a new factor. Consequently, much of the State's brief constitutes *argumenta ad passiones*, rather than sober analyses of the actual issues on appeal.

This is particularly true given the Supreme Court's repeated observation that even those who commit the most depraved crimes may have, and might show, the capacity to change:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Liebzeit's sentencing court is not the only court to believe revisiting a discretionary life-without-parole sentence is appropriate following *Miller* v. *Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012). The Supreme Court remanded three cases for precisely that purpose. *Blackwell v. California*, 568 U.S. 1081 (2013), *Mauricio v. California*, 568 U.S. 975 (2012), and *Guillen v. California*, 567 U.S. 950 (2012).

Extending parole eligibility to juvenile offenders does not impose an onerous burden on the States, nor does it disturb the finality of state convictions. Those prisoners who have shown an inability to reform will continue to serve life sentences. The opportunity for release will be afforded to those who demonstrate the truth of *Miller*'s central intuition . . . children who commit even heinous crimes are capable of change.

Montgomery v. Louisiana, 577 U.S. 190, 212 (2016) (emphasis added), citing Miller, supra.<sup>2</sup>

D. Both The Brain Science Regarding The Development Of The Emerging Adult Brain, And Liebzeit's Actual Brain Damage As A Juvenile, Constitute New Factors, As That Concept Is Defined By The Wisconsin Supreme Court.

As discussed more thoroughly below, the circuit court relied on two new factors in reaching its decision in this case: (1) new brain science regarding the 19-year-old brain; and (2) Liebzeit's documented brain damage as a child. In both instances, these are, undeniably, *facts*. Collectively, they are a set of facts. Accordingly, they fully meet the definition of "new factors" at the entry level.

They are also facts wholly absent from the original sentencing hearing. This Court can scour the record and not find a single reference to Liebzeit's organic brain damage during the original sentencing hearing. This fact existed, but was overlooked by all parties. Nor will this Court find any reference to brain science at all, much less brain science about the emerging adult. This is because these facts were not then

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In *Montgomery*, the defendant killed a deputy sheriff. In *Miller*, the defendant beat his neighbor into submission, then set fire to his trailer. In *Roper* v. *Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the defendant wrapped his victim's eyes and mouth with duct tape, tied her hands and feet with electrical wire, and threw her from a bridge.

Filed 06-15-2021

in existence. While the State wishes to impute knowledge of the new brain science to the sentencing court, despite the court's pledge it was wholly unaware of such, it cannot impute knowledge of the applicability of the new brain science to a 19-year-old, as such is decidedly a recent innovation. This is especially true given the scholarly article authored by Dr. Somerville that resonated with the court.

Since these facts also pertain to Liebzeit's brain, they are, necessarily, highly relevant to the imposition of a sentence. It can fairly be said, and cannot reasonably be denied, that a person appearing before a court for sentencing is entirely defined by the person's brain. Nothing could be more relevant to the imposition of a sentence than a defendant's brain. This explains, for example, why it is unconstitutional to administer capital punishment to the mentally retarded. Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 318 (2002) (mental retardation diminishes personal culpability even if offender can distinguish right from wrong).<sup>3</sup>

Facts elucidating a defendant's brain are highly relevant because sentencing courts are required to consider, inter alia, the defendant's character and prospects for rehabilitation. State v. Ziegler, 2006 WI App 49, ¶23, 289 Wis.2d 594, 712 N.W.2d 76. Correct and accurate background data is important because it significantly affects a defendant's chances for successful rehabilitation, his rehabilitative needs, and the likelihood he will reoffend. State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶76, 270 Wis.2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. This, in turn, alters the judicial calculus pertaining to protecting the public. Id. In short, nothing can be more relevant to sentencing than facts about a defendant's brain.

#### 1. The brain science pertaining to a 19year-old, on this record, is a new factor.

It is significant that Liebzeit had just turned 19 at the time he committed his offense, because much has been learned

Case 2021AP000009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> So relevant is brain development to a sentence that the Supreme Court has stated that a sentence failing to account for an offender's youth is ipso facto flawed. Miller, at 476.

about the 19-year-old brain in the nearly 25 years since he was sentenced. And what has been learned on this front has significantly impacted how courts now view sentences given youthful offenders. Over the last fifteen years, the Supreme Court has issued four landmark decisions significantly altering the treatment of young people in the criminal justice system. Montgomery, supra; Miller, supra; Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010); Roper, supra. In this quartet of decisions, the Court looked to established scientific consensus regarding adolescent development and considered the unique attributes of youth when applying constitutional protections to youthful offenders.

These Supreme Court decisions rest "not only on common sense - on what 'any parent knows' - but on science and social science as well." Miller, at 471. Greater understanding in this area prompted *Miller* to hold mandatory life sentences for those who commit crimes as juveniles unconstitutionally cruel and unusual. Id. ("developments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds - in parts of the brain involved in behavior control . . . transient rashness, proclivity for risk, and inability to assess consequences [which] lessen[] . . . moral culpability and enhance[] the prospect that, as the years go by and neurological development occurs . . . deficiencies will be reformed"). Because of greater prospects for reform, juveniles are less deserving of the most severe punishments, id., such as the sentence Liebzeit received. See also Roper, at 569 ("[A]s the scientific and sociological studies respondent and his amici cite tend to confirm, '[a] lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility are found in youth more often than in adults and are more understandable among the young."").

To its credit, the State concedes the brain science in question does apply to Liebzeit. It does not argue that such is inapplicable to Liebzeit because he was not a juvenile, in the statutory sense, when he committed the offense in this case. It recognizes the adolescent brain does not magically transform on an individual's 17th or 18th birthday, as the brain science relied on by the Supreme Court affirms. Instead, the State

Filed 06-15-2021

argues that what has been learned about the emerging adult brain is nothing new. Citing State v. McDermott, 2012 WI App 14, 339 Wis.2d 316, 810 N.W.2d 237, the State argues there is nothing about the adolescent brain that was not already known to the ancient Greeks.<sup>4</sup> (State's Brief, p. 11).

This argument, however, again depends on pretending the new brain science, and Supreme Court cases applying it, pertain only to impulsivity. More fatal still, it crumbles before the Supreme Court cases squarely relying on a new understanding of the young brain. See, Graham, at 68 (developments in psychology and brain science show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds); Miller, at 471 (Supreme Court's decisions rest on science and social science, citing Steinberg & Scott, Less Guilty by Adolescence: Reason of Developmental Immaturity. Diminished Responsibility, and the Juvenile Death Penalty, 58 Am. Psychologist 1009, 1014 (2003)). Had nothing new been learned about the adolescent mind, Miller would have had no reason to vacate the same life-without-parole sentence Miller and Liebzeit both received in 1997. The Supreme Court's reliance on developmental evidence represents a shift from prior decisions. Laurence Steinberg, Adolescent Brain Science and Juvenile Justice Policymaking, 23 Psych. Pub. Pol'y & L. 410, 413 (2017).

Moreover, even were it true that nothing new has been learned about the *juvenile* brain over the past 25 years, what has since been learned, and what clearly was important to the court in this case, is that the brain science is now also understood to be applicable to a just-turned-19-year-old offender. Over the past ten years, additional advancements in neuroscience and brain imaging research have revealed the

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